

# Effect of Different Zinc Fertilization Rates and tef (*Eragrostis tef* (Zucc.) Trotter) varieties on agronomic and grain quality traits in Northern Ethiopia

Comment [BP1]: The title of the manuscript needs to be modified to add more meaning.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

## ABSTRACT

Although tef is a major crop in Ethiopia, its grain yield is often low due to insufficient application of Zinc fertilizer. This experiment was conducted during the 2019/2020 main cropping season to evaluate the agronomic, yield, and grain quality responses of tef varieties to different Zinc fertilizer rates. The experiment was arranged in a split-plot design with five treatments: 4, 6, 8, and 10 kg N/ha<sup>-1</sup>, including a control, applied as subplots for three tef varieties (flagot, Local [Zezew], and Quncho), with three replications. Results showed that Zinc rates, the varieties, and their interactions have significantly affected all the traits. The highest grain yield (2442 Kg/ha<sup>-1</sup>) was obtained from the Quncho variety treated with 6 Kg Zn/ha. The highest grain Zn (42.50 mg/kg), and Fe (738.4 mg/kg) contents were recorded from flagot tef variety treated with 10 kg Zn/ha. Therefore, farmers in the target area are advised to apply 6 kg and 10 kg Zn/ha to enhance tef productivity and grain Zn & Fe content.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Comment [BP2]: Replace /ha with ha<sup>-1</sup> and /kg with kg<sup>-1</sup>

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Keywords: Zinc; variety; yield formation and quality.

## 1. Introduction

Tef (*Eragrostis tef* (Zucc.) Trotter) is an annual crop with a growth cycle of 2 to 5 months, predominantly cultivated as a staple food crop in Ethiopia [1,2]. Ethiopia is the center of origin and diversity of cultivated tef [3]. It's a tropical crop and C<sub>4</sub>-cycle photosynthetic pathway. Tef is an allotetraploid species with 2n = 4x = 40 chromosomes, and its flowers open in the morning (7–9 AM) in response to light and temperature. It is predominantly self-pollinating but with a very low degree of outcrossing (up to 1%). The crop has a large crown, numerous tillers, and a shallow, diverse root system. While most cultivars have erect stems, some exhibit bending or elbowing growth habits. Tef holds considerable economic importance in Ethiopia. Nationally, it accounts for 24% of the total cultivated area and 17.29% of the total grain production, with an

average productivity of 16.64 qt/ha. In the Tigray region, tef is grown on approximately 167,584.33 hectares, with an average yield of 14.38 qt/ha [4]. Tef is healthy crop & superior in nutritional quality. The grain of tef is a good source of carbohydrate, fiber, iron, calcium and zinc and a good source of essential amino acids than other cereal grains, including wheat, barley and sorghum [5,6]. It is most made into injera & straw provides an excellent nutritional product in contrast to other animal feed and is also utilized to reinforce mud or plasters used in the construction of buildings [5,7]

**Comment [BP3]:** Tef crop good source of zinc and application of Zn fertilizer to improve Zn concentration in tef crop are two contradictory statements which needs further clarification.

The soil fertility map of agricultural lands has been developed by EthioSIS to identify nutrients that may limit crop productivity and to develop balanced fertilization in Ethiopia [8]. Accordingly, widespread Zn deficiency in soils of Tigray Region was [9] Zinc deficiency is also a global problem in human nutrition associated with cereal-based diets, while low soil Zn often limits crop production and crop grain quality [10]. There is an interest from the government of Ethiopia for use of Zn containing fertilizers such as NPSZn to increase crop yields and quality. Farmers in Ethiopia have started using fertilizers containing Zn. In Tigray Region, farmers are encouraged through the extension system to apply fertilizer containing Zn at a rate of 100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> replacing Di-ammonium phosphate (DAP) for all crops. The Zn content in NPSZn fertilizer is 2.2 kg. The recommended target of Zn concentration in crop grains for human nutrition is 40-60 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> [10]. Fertilizers containing Zn might also improve the productivity and quality of cereals and concentration of Zn in tef grain. Zinc fertilizers are commonly applied to many crops around the world. The most common sources are ZnSO<sub>4</sub> and ZnO, but other inorganic products and sources such as chelates and natural organic complexes also are used. It is used in the formation of chlorophyll and some carbohydrates and is used in the conversion of starches to sugars. Zinc also helps plant tissue withstand cold temperatures. Zinc is essential in the formation of auxins, which help with growth regulation and stem elongation. In zinc deficient plants stunted growth and small leaves are the most distinct visible symptoms and result from the disturbance in the auxin metabolism [11] mentioned that if zinc contents are lower, zinc deficiency can cause a 50 to 70% reduction in photosynthesis, decreased protein production, loss of membrane integrity and reduced yield. Hence, there are limited studies investigating the effects of fertilizers containing Zn and their effects on yields and grain Zn concentration (quality) on types of tef varieties.

**Formatted:** Superscript

## 2. Materials and methods

### 2.1 Description of the study area

This research was conducted at Axum Agricultural Research Center(AxRC) during 2020main cropping season, at the Ahform substation, is positioned at longitude 39° 04'40.2'' and latitude 14° 06'28.015'', with an elevation of 2200 meters above sea level. The average annual rainfall in this area ranged from 500 to 700 mm, with daily average minimum and maximum temperatures of 20°C and 30°C, respectively.

## 2.2 Experimental design and management

The experiment was conducted using a split plot design with five treatments 4, 6, 8 & 10 kg  $\text{ha}^{-1}$  ZnO $\cdot$ 4a including the control. These were applied as subplots within three tef varieties (Local [Zezew], Flagotand Quncho), with three replications. Each plot measured 2m x 2m, containing 10 rows with 20 cm inter-row spacing. Plot, main plot, and replication spacing was 0.5 m, 1 m, and 1.5 m, respectively. The recommended tef seed rate of 10 kg  $\text{ha}^{-1}$  [12] was used, and blended fertilizer (NPSB) was applied at a rate of 100 kg  $\text{ha}^{-1}$ , as reported by [2]. Although N fertilizer was applied Split application where half dose was applied just after germination and the application of the remaining dose was done two weeks later after the first dose application. All other agronomic crop husbandry practices were applied uniformly to all plots.

## 2.3 Data Collection

Data were collected on 11 agronomic traits from the eight middle rows of each plot leaving the two rows as borders. Assessments depending on the trait were made both on individual plants and on a plot basis.

**2.3.1 Phenological traits:** Days to 50% heading and Days to 90% maturity were recorded when 50% of the plant per plot headed and 90% of the plants reached physiological maturity.

**2.3.2 Agronomic traits:** Plant height (PH), Number of productive tillers, Panicle length (cm), grain yield (kg/ha), aboveground biomass (kg/ha) were collected per plot using appropriate methods. The harvest index was calculated as a ratio of grain yield to the biomass yield.

### 2.3.3 Quality traits

**Estimation of Zinc & Iron (mg/kg) content:** Grain micronutrient (Zn & Fe) was determined using 1g dry and ground plant material transfer quantitatively into a beaker and by adding 10 mL (2:1 ratio) nitric acid-per chloric acid mixture and allowing to stand overnight or until the vigorous reaction phase is over using 150 °C temperature for 1-hour digest. Temperature was slowly

increased to 235 °C until all traces of *HNO3* disappeared, then analyzed by the equipment of an Atomic Observation Spectrometer (AAS) at Ezana Analytical Laboratory

## 2.4 Data Analysis

All the collected data were subjected to statistical analysis using GenStat 18<sup>th</sup> Edition statistical software. For traits that showed significant response to either the main or the interaction effects, a mean comparison was performed using the least significance difference (LSD) at a 5% probability level.

## 3. RESULT AND DISCUSSION

### 3.1 Response of Tef Phonological Traits to Rates of zinc Fertilizer

#### 3.1.1 Days to 50% heading

The V×Z interaction has a significant ( $p<0.01$ ) effect on days to heading. The longest (58.34 days) day to heading was recorded for the Quncho variety treated with 10 kg Zn/ha while the shortest (46.05 days) days to heading was recorded for the local variety treated with control. (Table 1). This result indicated that higher amount of Zn fertilizer might have contributed to the delayed number days to heading the effect of zn rates on heading dates of tef was reported previously [13].

#### 3.1.2. Days to 90% physiological maturity

The days to maturity of the varieties showed a significant ( $P<0.01$ ) variation under the different Zn fertilizer rates, showing that the interaction effect is strong. A delayed maturity (101 days) was recorded from the Quncho variety that received 10 kg  $\text{ha}^{-1}$  Zn treatments while the earliest (83days) maturity was recorded for the local variety without any fertilization this result showed brown-seeded color are early maturing than white-seeded (Table 1). [13] who Saied that the fertilizer blended in different proportions of N, P, S, Fe and Zn and higher amount of Zn and urea might have contributed to the delayed number days to maturity of tef. The delayed maturity time might be associated with prolonged period for the vegetative developmental stage and might increase the chance of lodging and susceptibility to diseases and pests.

### 3.2 Effect of V×Zn on agronomic traits

#### 3.2.1 Plant height

The V×Zn interaction significantly ( $p<0.01$ ) affected the height of the various varieties. The tallest (127.8cm) was recorded for the Quncho variety treated with 8kg Zn/ha fertilizer whereas the shortest (83.1cm) height was recorded for the local with zero fertilizer.

(Table 1). Similar results were reported by other scholars for various crops [14 – 15]. Reported that Plant height increased 4.8 and 23.1% by utilization of Zn at the stem elongation and also at the stemming and grain filling stages, respectively and added Zn significantly increased plant height via increasing internodes distances. [16] Contradictory for this current study.

Table 1: The mean value for the Interaction effect of Zn fertilizer rates and tef varieties on phenology, morphology, yield and yield component of tef.

TRT Va*Zn	HD	MD	PH	PL	TIN	BY	GY	HI
1 1	47.59 bcde	84.15 a	83.1 j	33.20 h	8.77 bcd	5149 k	1468 cde	0.28 a
1 2	46.55 ab	83.36 a	86.7 i	36.30 f	9.03 b	6094 i	1337 f	0.22 bc
1 3	46.72 abc	84.02 a	86.6 i	31.50 j	7.2 e	5638 j	1168 gh	0.21 cd
1 4	46.38 ab	84.52 a	83.7 j	33.67 h	8.6 bcd	7969 ef	1809 b	0.23 b
1 5	46.05ab	84.02 a	88.8 h	33.77 h	7.33 e	8438 cd	1848 b	0.22 bc
2 1	50.78 ij	83.37 a	94.3f	35.37 g	11.22 a	7656 fg	1178 gh	0.15 gh
2 2	49.63 fhij	83.66 a	99.7 e	36.30 f	9.1 b	8281 de	1146 h	0.14 h
2 3	48.97 efgh	83 a	93.9 f	37.10 e	6.8ef	7266 ef	1399 def	0.19 de
2 4	50.3 ij	83.66 a	90.7 g	35.70 fg	8.7 bcd	7969 ef	1303 f	0.16 fg
2 5	49.47 fghi	83 a	94.5 f	32.30 i	8.9 b	7500 gh	1282 fg	0.17 f
3 1	56.96 kl	101 b	126.4 ab	42.70 d	5.13 g	8750 bc	1406 ij	0.15 <sup>gh</sup>
3 2	57.34 klm	101 b	125.4 bc	48.00 a	5.83 fg	9531 a	1336 ef	0.155 fgh
3 3	58 lmn	101 b	123.2 d	44.50 c	7.83 cde	8945 b	2442 a	0.27 a
3 4	57 kl	101 b	127.6 a	44.90 c	6.85 ef	9062 b	1599 c	0.19 g
3 5	58.34 mn	101 b	123.9 cd	46.20 b	7.73 de	8438 cd	1599 c	0.19 g
CV%	1.0	0.3	0.8	0.8	5.6	2.7	4.8	4.8
LSD (5%)	1.42	1.21	1.59	0.69	1.06	357.5	132.70	0.017
P-value	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001

**Comment [BP4]:** The combination of varieties and treatment needs to be mentioned properly either in the table or in legend for clear understanding of the reader.

**Comment [BP5]:** The letters denoting significance or non-significance of the result needs to in superscript format.

**Formatted:** Superscript

**Formatted:** Line spacing: single

DH50%; day of 50% heading, DM90%; day of 90% maturity, PH; Plant height), Number of Effective tillers (NET), Panicle length (PL, cm), Grain yield (GY kg ha), Biological yield (BY kg/ha), Harvest index (HI) and V1; local, V2; flagot, V3Quncho

### 3.2.2 Panicle lengths (cm)

These traits were under significant ( $p < 0.01$ ) influence of the  $V \times Zn$  interaction effects (Table 1). The longest panicle length (48cm) was recorded for Quncho variety treated with 4 kg Zn/ha. On the other hand, the shortest panicle length (31.50 cm) was recorded for the local treated with 6kg Zn/ha. Various previous studies Contradictory for this study there was no significant interaction effect of Zn fertilizer and soil for either panicle length or plant height of tef b/c Low soil organic carbon, total nitrogen, clay content, both available and total Zn and other related poor physical and biological soil properties might have contributed for the lowest growth of tef [16] and [17] on rice.

Comment [BP6]: Replace Zno with ZnO.

### 3.2.3 Number of effective Tiller (NET)

As presented for the other traits, the  $V \times Zn$  interaction significantly ( $p < 0.01$ ) affected the number of tef productive tillers. Many NETs (11 per plant) were recorded for flagot variety treated with no Zn application while only 5 tillers per plant were recorded for the Quncho variety with no fertilizer (Table 1). These results are in line to the findings made by [18] reported that application of zinc has a very little effect on total numbers of tillers produced on wheat.

### 3.2.4 Biomass yield (BY) and grain yield (GY)

Yield is an ultimate goal of crop production and the impact of production factors on these traits is critically observed. Our study found that both the BY and GY were under strong influence ( $p < 0.01$ ) of  $V \times Zn$  interaction effects. The highest biomass yield (9531 kg/ha) and grain yield (2442 kg/ha) were recorded for the Quncho variety treated with 4 kg Zn/ha and 6 kg Zn/ha, respectively (Table 1). The lowest biological yield (5149kg/ha) recorded from local variety treated with no fertilizer application and lowest grain yield (1178 kg/ha) were recorded from flagot variety without any fertilization. [16] also found similar results who observed there was a significant interaction effect of Zn fertilization and soil for biomass yield and grain yield of tef. [17&19], also observed and found higher biological yield and grain yield with Zn foliar application on rice and wheat. Availability of micronutrients causes increase in the yield of crops. This increase of yield may be due to the abundant efficiency of enzyme activities which influence plant pigments because zinc is an important component of all classes of enzymes. 24% - 38% yield can be increased by the application of zinc as compared to controlled plots and Zinc

may be endorsed increased photosynthesis, initial growth, nitrogen fixation which encourages biological yield. These finding are in line to results of [18].

### 3.2.5 Harvest index

Harvest index is a good indicator of assimilates accumulation into the final intended product. The HI ranged from 0.14 to 0.27 and significantly ( $p < 0.01$ ) affected by the V×Zn interaction effect. The largest (0.279) HI was obtained from Quncho variety treated with 6 kg Zn/ha while the lowest (0.14) HI was recorded from the flagot variety treated with 4kg Zn/ha (Table 1). Similar results were reported previously], [16] who reported on average Zn fertilizer increasedsignificantly grain and harvest index of tef. the highest grain yield and harvest index of tef were recorded from the application of 100 kg NPSZn ha-1 + 4 kg Zn ha-1 with recorded increases of 3.6% and 7.6%, respectively, over the control.

### 3.3V×Zn interaction effects on tef grain quality traits

Improvement in grain quality traits is equally important as improvement in grain in crop improvement to achieve nutritional security. Some of the grain quality traits are influenced by agronomic management and the responses of varieties to the applied agronomic management. In this paper, we presented the effect of varieties' interaction with Zn rates on tef grain Zn and Fe concentration.

Comment [BP7]: Mention some references.

#### 3.3.1 Grain Fe and Zn concentration

Micronutrient deficiency is a major contributor to malnutrition in Ethiopia especially in the northern part and improving their access through bio fortification is the main target of agronomic and breeding research. Our analysis revealed that the concentration of these micronutrients by the various tef varieties under different rates of Zn fertilizer treatment was significantly ( $p < 0.01$ ) different. These results support the finding made by [16]who reported that significant interaction effect of Zn fertilization and soil for grain quality or Zn concentration of tef. The highest (738 mg/kg) mean Fe concentration was recorded from thelocal variety treated with 10 kg Zn/ha. In comparison, the lowest (158.2 mg/kg) was recorded from the Quncho variety without Zntreatment (Table 2). Similarly, the highest (42.50 mg/kg) of grain Zncontent was recorded from the local variety treated with 10 kg Zn/ha, and the lowest (27.30 mg/kg) content was also recorded from the same variety treated with 4 kg Zn/ha. The variation in Fe and Zn concentration by varieties under different fertilizer treatments by crops like tef and wheat was reported by various scholars [13,-14, 18&20]. The potential of brown -seeded tef varieties

to concentrate more Fe and Zn compared to the improved white-seeded tef varieties was also reported by [21]. The increase in grain Zn content with foliar Zn application may be due to increase in plant growth and metabolism finding by [15]. The findings suggest that applied Zn is important to maintain sufficient yield and grain Fe and Zn concentration.

**Table 2. The mean value of Fe and Zn under the effect of V×Zn interaction at ahforom, Tigray, Ethiopia**

Traits	Zn g/m <sup>2</sup>	Fe g/m <sup>2</sup>
V1*Z1	36.20 f	347.5 <sup>c</sup>
V1*Z2	27.30 m	196.8 k
V1*Z3	30.60 l	255.4 f
V1*Z4	30.50 l	253.6 f
V1*Z5	42.50 a	738.4 a
V2*Z1	32.07 j	286.9 e
V2*Z2	37.20 d	209.5 i
V2*Z3	37.00 e	206.1 j
V2*Z4	31.60 k	355.9 b
V2*Z5	39.60 b	246.6 g
V3*Z1	32.30 i	158.2 m
V3*Z2	33.10 h	162.3 l
V3*Z3	38.60 c	236.9 h
V3*Z4	32.30 i	300.1 d
V3*Z5	34.10 g	194.7 k
LSD(0.05)	0.1747	3.465
CV (%)	0.3	0.6

**Comment [BP8]:** The title of the table should also include the plant part where Zn and Fe content had been estimated.

**Comment [BP9]:** How the unit of Zn and Fe content in grain is g/m<sup>2</sup>.

**Comment [BP10]:** The treatment details must be included in the legend.

**Formatted:** Superscript



**P-value**

<.001

<.001

*Fe; iron (Zn) zinc grain concentration v1; local,v2; flagot,v3 Quncho*

## Conclusion

It could be inferred from the result that the response of tef varieties to the applied rates of zinc fertilizer was significantly high. The V×Zn interaction effect has affected all the studied agronomic and grain quality traits very significant. The improved variety, Quncho(whait -seeded clour) showed a better response to high rates of zinc fertilizer for yield and yield-related traits while the flagot variety (read (brown)seeded clour) concentrated more micronutrients withthe highst rates of zinc fertilization. The read seed clour tef variety might extend its roots deeper into the root zone in search of nutrients than the improved varieties, which enabled it to accumulate more Fe and Zn when deprived of fertilizer application. This inference needs further verification. Application of 6 kg Zno /ha to the variety Quncho looks more yieldand 10 kg Zn/ha to the variety flagot accumulate more Fe &Zn grain content than the other options and is recommended for this particular location. We recommend further research to ascertain our findings.

## DISCLAIMER (ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE)

No artificial intelligence was used.

## REFERENCES

1. National Research Council. Lost Crops of Africa: Volume I: Grains. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. Page. 1996;219. <https://DOI:10.17226/2305>.

2. Seyfu K. Tef (*Eragrostis tef* (Zucc.) Trotter). Promoting the conservation and use of underutilized and neglected crops. In: Institute of Plant Genetics and Crop Plant Research, International Plant Genetics Resource Institute, Rome, Italy. 1997;1-10.
3. T. Tekalign. Growth, Photosynthetic Efficiency, Rate of Transpiration, Lodging, and Grain Yield of Tef (*EragrostisTef*(Zucc.) Trotter) as Influenced by Stage and Rate of Paclobutrazol Application. *East African Journal of Sciences*. 2007;1 (1):35-44.
4. CSA (Central Statistical Agency). Agricultural sample survey: Area and production of major crops, Meherseason. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. 2017;1
5. Alemu Yami. Tef Straw: A Valuable Feed Resource to improve Animal Production and Productivity. In: Kebebew Assefa, Solomon Chanyalew and Zerihun Tadele (eds.) *Achievements and Prospects of Tef Improvement*. 2013;244-260.
6. Earl Creech, Mike Laca, James Barnhill, and Shawn Olsen. Tef hay production guidelines for Utah. (U state univerdity, cooperative Extension); 2012
7. USDA.2007, National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference, Release 20, [online], [Accessed 05/09/
8. .Ministry of Agriculture (MoA) and Agricultural Transformation Agency(ATA). 2014. Soil fertility status and fertilizer recommendation Atlas for Tigray Regional State, Ethiopia. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia
9. Kiros Gebretsadkan.2016, Tef [*Eragrostis Tef* (Zucc.)Trotte] under Different Water Levels and N-P Fertilizer Rates in Tigray region, Northern Ethiopia Ed: Dr. Arvind Chavhan 4 (3): 321-335.
10. Bereket Haileselassie, TJ Stomph, and E Hoffland. 2011. Teff (*Eragrostis tef*) production constraints on Vertisols in Ethiopia: Farmer's perceptions and evaluation of low soil zinc as yield-limiting factor. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 57(4):587-596.
11. El Habbasha, S.F., Elham A. Badr and Ezzat Abdel Latef Field Crops Research Dept., National Research Centre, Dokki, Giza, Egypt Effect of Zinc foliar application on growth characteristics and Grain Yield of some Wheat varieties under Zn deficient sandy soil conditionInternational Journal of ChemTech Research CODEN (USA): IJCRGG ISSN: 0974-4290 Vol.8, No.6, pp 452-458, 2015
12. Axum Agriculture Research Center (AxARC). Axum Agriculture Research 08].Center annual research report for the period of 2013/14. Axum Tigray, Ethiopia; 2014

13. Hayelom Berhe Mehoni June 2019, Response of tef (*Eragrostis tef* /Zucc./Trotter) to NPS and NPSFeZn Blended Fertilizers on Vertisols in Raya Azebo Woreda, Northern Ethiopia Agricultural Research Center, Ethiopian Institute of Agricultural Research, P.O. Box 47, Mekhoni, Tigray, Ethiopia Correspondence: [hayelomberhe345@gmail.com](mailto:hayelomberhe345@gmail.com) <https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341522523>
14. Ezatollah Esfandiari<sup>1</sup> •Sadeghzadeh<sup>4</sup> Impact of foliar zinc application on agronomic traits and grain quality parameters of wheat grown in zinc deficient soil Received: 13 November 2015 / Accepted: 18 May 2016 Indian Society for Plant Physiology 2016
15. Majid Abdoli<sup>1\*</sup>, Ezatollah Esfandiari<sup>2</sup>, Seyed Bahman Mousavi<sup>3</sup> and Behzad Sadeghzadeh<sup>4</sup> Effects of foliar application of zinc sulfate at different phenological stages on yield formation and grain zinc content of bread wheat (cv. Kohdasht) AJA. VOL (1) ISSUE 1, 2014:11-16 ISSN:2383-4420
16. Bereket Haileselassie<sup>1\*</sup>, Bobe Bedadi<sup>1</sup>, Selamyihun Kidanu<sup>2</sup> and Tekalign Mamo<sup>3</sup> Effect of Zinc Containing Fertilizers on Yield and Grain Quality of Tef [*Eragrostis Tef* (Zucc.) Trotter] in some Soils of Tigray Region, Ethiopia Ethiop. J. Agric. Sci. 28(2) 23-35 (2018).
17. Yu-yan WANG<sup>1</sup>, Yan-yan WEI<sup>2</sup>, Lan-xue DONG<sup>1</sup>, Ling-li LU<sup>1</sup>, Ying FENG<sup>1</sup>, Jie ZHANG<sup>1</sup>, Feng-shan PAN<sup>1</sup>, Xiao-e YANG<sup>†‡</sup> Improved yield and Zn accumulation for rice grain by Zn fertilization and optimized water management\*Wang et al. / J Zhejiang Univ-Sci B (Biomed & Biotechnol) 2014 15(4):365-374 Wang et al. / J Zhejiang Univ-Sci B (Biomed & Biotechnol) 2014 15(4):365-374
18. Usman Afzal<sup>1</sup>, Muhammad Shahid Ibni Zamir<sup>1</sup>, Shan MohiUd Din<sup>1\*</sup>, Aqib Bilal<sup>2</sup>, Muhammad Salahuddin<sup>1</sup>, Shahid Iqbal Khan<sup>1</sup> Impact of Different Zinc Application Methods on Yield and Yield Components of Various Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) Cultivars, <sup>1</sup>Department of Agronomy, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan <sup>2</sup>Department of Botany, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan American Journal of Plant Sciences, 2017,8,3502-3512 <http://www.scirp.org/journal/ajps> ISSN Online: 2158-2750 ISSN Print: 2158-2742
19. Laiq Zada<sup>1\*</sup>, Mohammad Jamal Khan<sup>1</sup>, Ishaq Mian Ahmad<sup>1</sup>, Rafiullah<sup>1</sup>, Hafeez Ur Rahim<sup>1</sup>, Murad Ali<sup>2</sup>, Samiullah<sup>3</sup>, Sajjad Ahmad<sup>4</sup>, Zaid Khan<sup>4</sup> and Naseem Khan<sup>1</sup> Quality and yield of wheat crop as affected by different zinc application methods and levels Pure Appl. Biol., 6(3):814-820, September, 2017 <http://dx.doi.org/10.19045/bspab.2017.60086>

20. Muneta G. Manzeke-Kangara 1,\* , Tilahun Amede 2,†, Elizabeth H. Bailey 3 , Lolita Wilson 3, Abdul W. Mossa 4,5,Dereje Tirfessa 6, Mesfin K. Desta 1,3, Tadesse G. Asrat 1,2,7, Getachew Agegnehu 2, Tesfaye S. Sida 6, Gizaw Desta 2, Tadele Amare 8, Beamlaku Alemayehu 8, Stephan M. Haebele 1 , R. Murray Lark 3,Martin R. Broadley 1,3 and Sam Gameda 6,† Landscape and Micronutrient Fertilizer Effect on Agro-Fortified Wheat and Teff Grain Nutrient Concentration in Western Amhara *Agronomy* 2023, 13, 2598.<https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy13102598> <https://www.mdpi.com/journal/agronomy>
21. Tekalign Mamo, Teklu Erkossa, Balesh Tuluma. Soil fertility and plant nutrition research on tef in Ethiopia. In: Hailu Tefera, Getachew Belay and M.Sorrels (eds.). *Narrowing the Rift: Tef Research and Development*. Ethiopian Agricultural Research Organization (EARO). Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. 2003; 191-200.